IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA

Supreme Court No. DA 20-0514

PAUL WILKIE,

Plaintiff/Appellant,

v.

HARTFORD UNDERWRITERS INSURANCE COMPANY, a/k/a/ THE
HARTFORD; RICHARD L. SPROUT; and SHAUNA SPROUT,

Defendants/Appellees.

On Appeal from the Eighteenth Judicial District Court, Gallatin County,
Cause No. DV-20-367B, Hon. Rienne H. McElyea

Appellant's Opening Brief

(Appearances on next page)

APPEARANCES

Robert K. Baldwin
Jeffrey J. Tierney
Goetz, Baldwin & Geddes, P.C.
35 North Grand
P.O. Box 6580
Bozeman, MT 59771-6580
Ph: 406-587-0618
Fax: 406-587-5144
rbaldwin@goetzlawfirm.com
jtierney@goetzlawfirm.com

Attorneys for Appellant

Patrick T. Fox
Hunt & Fox PLLP

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

Richard Sprout (“Sprout”) hit Paul Wilkie (“Wilkie”) with his truck, causing bodily injury. Sprout’s liability to Wilkie is reasonably clear. Hartford refused Wilkie’s request for a copy of Sprout’s insurance policy (the “Policy”). Wilkie sued for declaratory relief that Hartford had a duty to provide the Policy. After Hartford forced Wilkie to sue to get the Policy, Sprout provided it and Hartford proclaimed the case moot. The district court agreed, dismissing the case.

The issues are:

1. Whether the district court erred in finding the case moot, particularly while disallowing discovery; and
2. Whether, under *Ridley* and its progeny, Hartford had a duty to reveal the Policy—or at least coverage limits—to Wilkie.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

I. Nature of the case.

Hartford issued the insurance Policy covering Sprout’s truck. Sprout negligently injured Wilkie. Sprout’s liability is reasonably clear.

This is **not** a suit:

- Against the tortfeasor, Sprout, for monetary damages for Wilkie’s personal injuries. That suit has not yet been filed; or

- Against Hartford for violations of the Unfair Trade Practices Act (the “UTPA,” §§ 33-18-201, MCA, *et seq.*) or common law bad faith. Again, no such suit has been filed.

Instead, this suit seeks only declaratory relief regarding Hartford’s obligations to Wilkie, an injured third party to whom the insured’s liability is reasonably clear, under *Ridley v. Guaranty Nat. Ins. Co.*, 286 Mont. 325, 951 P.2d 987 (1997), and its progeny.

II. Procedural background.

Hartford refused Wilkie’s pre-suit demand for a copy of the Policy or information about coverage limits, so Wilkie sued. Dkt. 2. Because Sprout has an interest in disclosure of the Policy, Wilkie joined Sprout, who responded by coming to Wilkie’s counsel’s office to announce his continued refusal to provide the Policy. Dkt. 13.

Weeks later, after Hartford hired a lawyer for Sprout, that lawyer produced the Policy, and Hartford moved (Dkt. 5) to dismiss the case:

- As moot, pursuant to Rule 12(b)(1); and
- As failing to state a claim on the merits, pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6).

Wilkie sought discovery on factual issues raised by Hartford’s Rule 12(b)(1) motion. Defendants refused to provide discovery and sought a protective order.

Wilkie cross-moved to compel.

The district court dismissed the case as moot, not reaching the merits. App. 1 (Dkt. 15). It denied as moot the parties' pending cross-motions about discovery. *Id.* Wilkie appeals.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

I. Wilkie's complaint.

Wilkie alleged: Hartford insured Sprout; Sprout negligently injured Wilkie; Sprout's liability is reasonably clear such that Hartford has accepted liability and is advancing Wilkie's medical expenses under *Ridley*; Wilkie has further physical and emotional injuries for which he has not yet made demand; and Wilkie requested from Hartford a copy of the Policy or, at least, information about applicable coverage limits. Dkt. 2, pp. 1-3, ¶¶ 1-12; App. 2. Hartford denied it had "any obligation...to provide you with a copy of our insured's policy, declaration page, or release his policy information...." *Id.* at 3, ¶ 13; App. 3.

The Complaint continued that insurance companies' practice of withholding insurance policies from injured third-party claimants is longstanding and deep-seated. *Id.* at 3, ¶¶ 14-15. This puts the injured claimants in an unfairly disadvantageous position vis-à-vis the insurers because the carriers obviously have access to coverage terms and amounts. *Id.* at 4, ¶ 16.

Wilkie stated a single count, seeking declaratory relief that Hartford had an obligation to disclose the Policy or, at a minimum, policy limits. *Id.* at 5-6. Wilkie did not seek monetary relief other than fees and costs as supplemental relief under the Uniform Declaratory Judgment Act, §§ 27-8-101, MCA, *et seq.* (“DJA”).

II. Dismissal of the complaint.

Hartford moved to dismiss, and Sprout joined (Dkts. 5-7), on two bases:

- Defendants argued a lack of subject matter jurisdiction under Rule 12(b)(1) because production of the Policy after forcing Wilkie to file suit rendered the case moot; and
- They also argued the complaint failed to state a claim upon which relief can be granted, requiring dismissal under Rule 12(b)(6), because the law did not require disclosure of the Policy.

Wilkie responded that the “voluntary cessation” and “capable of repetition yet evading review” exceptions to mootness applied so the court should still address the merits. Dkt. 10, pp. 1-10. On the merits, Wilkie argued that various public policies favor disclosure of information to injured third-party claimants. And, just as the UTPA requires an insurer to pay a third-party claimant up to coverage limits when liability is reasonably clear, it also requires insurers to reveal what those coverages and limits are. *Id.* at 10-20.

After further briefing (Dkts. 18-19, 25-26, 28), the district court granted the motion to dismiss without a hearing or taking any evidence. App. 1. It reasoned that “[t]he dispute between the parties involved in this action has been resolved and is now moot,” such that any ruling on the merits would be an advisory opinion. *Id.* at 2. It dismissed Wilkie’s merits arguments under the UTPA and *Ridley* as an attempt to get “an advisory opinion as a stepping stone” to bad-faith litigation that the district court invited Wilkie to file. *Id.* at 2-3. With no further analysis or explanation, the court refused to apply any exception to the mootness doctrine. *Id.* at 3.

III. Refusal to allow discovery.

Defendants’ motion to dismiss for mootness invoked Rule 12(b)(1) under which, unlike a 12(b)(6) motion, the parties may discuss facts beyond the complaint. Indeed, defendants’ mootness argument rested upon them having provided the Policy after the complaint was filed—a fact obviously not alleged in the complaint. Moreover, the mootness argument implicated the “voluntary cessation” exception to mootness (discussed further below), and the factual issues which inhere in that analysis—including those bearing upon the possibility that Hartford could withhold policies from third-party claimants in the future.

Wilkie had served written discovery regarding the factual issues necessarily

raised by the defendants' anticipated mootness defense based upon their post-litigation conduct. *See* Apps. 4-5. Wilkie also sought to depose Sprout and Hartford representatives about the reasons for the initial non-disclosure and post-suit disclosure of the policy to explore whether, indeed, it was absolutely clear such conduct could not reoccur. *See* Apps. 6-8.

Defendants refused to provide documents, answer interrogatories, or sit for depositions, instead seeking a protective order. *See* Dkts. 14-17. Wilkie cross-moved to compel. Dkt. 23. After further briefing (Dkts. 29, 31, 34), the district court denied all discovery motions as moot in light of its dismissal. App. 1, p. 3. Thus, when the district court decided the case was moot, it not only provided no analysis of the exceptions, but it also did not allow Wilkie to gather or present evidence on the factual issues inherent in its ruling.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Mootness “presents a question of law” which this Court reviews de novo. *Montanans Against Assisted Suicide v. Bd. of Med. Examiners, Montana Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 2015 MT 112, ¶ 7, 379 Mont. 11, 347 P.3d 1244 (analyzing voluntary cessation exception to mootness). As to the interpretation of Montana law regarding a duty to disclose the Policy, “[t]he correct interpretation of a statute is a question of law that we review de novo.” *Montana Indep. Living Project, Inc. v. City*

of Helena, 2021 MT 14, ¶ 7, ___ Mont. ___, ___ P.3d ___.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

ARGUMENT I: The case is not moot.

The defendants’ claim of mootness based upon their post-suit conduct—providing the Policy—implicates the “voluntary cessation” exception to mootness. Defendants had a “heavy burden” to make it “absolutely clear” that the challenged conduct could not reasonably be expected to reoccur. They did not acknowledge, attempt to carry, or actually carry that burden.

Additionally, this conduct is inherently “capable of repetition yet evading review,” a further exception to mootness. By definition, any time this issue is presented to a court, litigation will be pending and the plaintiff will have the right to obtain the insurance policy through discovery.

Unless one of these exceptions is applied, insurers will continue to manipulate the litigation process to forever avoid a straightforward judicial decree that they must provide policy information to injured third-party claimants when liability is reasonably clear.

ARGUMENT II: This Court should reach the merits and declare that, when liability is reasonably clear, insurers have a duty to provide policy information to the injured third-party claimant.

Strong public policies favor giving injured third parties the same information that the insurance company and its lawyers have. Such equal footing promotes fairness, encourages settlement, and avoids needless litigation.

The UTPA requires that, when liability is reasonably clear, insurance companies must pay injured third-party claimants even before a final settlement. That duty flows from subsections (6) and (13) of § 33-18-201, MCA, which prohibit insurers from refusing to pay damages which are already owed under the policy or withholding payment under one coverage to influence settlement under another. These duties to not manipulate coverages and to promptly pay up to policy limits require that the insurer also disclose what the coverages and policy limits are.

The Court should rule in favor of Wilkie on the merits and remand for an award of fees in Wilkie's favor.

ARGUMENT

Montana favors settlement and recognizes that adequate information about insurance will promote settlement. Allowing carriers to refuse to provide that information frustrates the public policy in favor of settlement and spawns litigation.

When liability is reasonably clear, §§ 33-18-201(6) and (13), MCA, “by their terms, impose...an obligation” to pay an injured third-party claimant's reasonably certain damages even without a final settlement. *Ridley*, 286 Mont. at 334, 951 P.2d

at 992. This obligation applies even before the claimant files suit. *Watters v. Guaranty Nat'l Ins. Co.*, 2000 MT 150, ¶ 57, 300 Mont. 91, 3 P.3d 626. An insurer has a duty to pay “up to the limits of its coverage” without requiring a release. *Shilhanek v. D-2 Trucking, Inc.*, 2003 MT 122, ¶ 22, 315 Mont. 519, 70 P.3d 721. This duty arises, in part, from subsection (13)’s prohibition on leveraging settlements under different coverages. *Ridley*, 286 Mont. at 336-337, 951 P.2d at 993-994.

Yet, insurers continue to refuse to disclose what those coverages and limits are. How can the duties not to manipulate settlements under the different coverages, and to advance pay reasonably certain damages up to the limits of coverage, be reconciled with a longstanding practice of withholding precisely that essential information from injured third-parties?

It is time for this Court to instruct that the same statutes which require payment of coverages up to policy limits when liability is reasonably clear also require that, in those circumstances, information necessary to ensure that duty is being fairly discharged be disclosed to the injured claimants.

If Hartford were correct that this case is moot, then insurers could avoid adjudication of this important issue indefinitely by “playing chicken” with injured Montanans—refusing to provide basic policy information, forcing them to file suit,

then yanking the rug out by providing the policy. Two mootness exceptions — “voluntary cessation” and “capable of repetition yet evading review” — apply to allow the court to reach the merits of the issue notwithstanding such maneuvering. While the two doctrines are related, they differ in allocation of the burden — the “voluntary cessation” exception imposes upon defendants who seek to avoid a decision on the merits a “heavy burden” to make it “absolutely clear” that the conduct cannot reoccur. If Montana courts do not apply one of these exceptions, Hartford and its cohorts could forever manipulate the process to deprive the courts of the opportunity to decide and declare the insurers’ pre-suit duties.

I. The dispute is not moot.

The district court was required to determine whether it had authority to adjudicate Wilkie’s claim for declaratory relief. *Stowe v. Big Sky Vaca. Rentals, Inc.*, 2019 MT 288, 398 Mont. 91, 454 P.3d 655 (citing *Harrington v. Energy W. Inc.*, 2015 MT 233, ¶¶ 9, 13, 380 Mont. 298, 356 P.3d 441). Clearly, it had jurisdiction over this type of case. *See* Mont. Const., Art. VII, § 4 (district courts have “original jurisdiction in...all civil matters and cases at law and in equity”); § 3-5-302(1)(b)-(c), MCA.

An otherwise justiciable case can become moot if the disputed issue “has ceased to exist or is no longer live.” *Ramon v. Short*, 2020 MT 69, ¶ 20, 399 Mont.

254, 460 P.3d 867 (citations omitted); *Walker v. State*, 2003 MT 134, 316 Mont. 103, 68 P.3d 872, 878. But, “[e]ven if a case is technically moot,” courts have inherent power to hear and decide a case “where the issues presented are important and of continuing interest.” 1A C.J.S. Action § 80, Exceptions to Mootness Doctrine Generally (Mar. 2020 update); *Havre Daily News, LLC v. City of Havre*, 2006 MT 215, ¶ 38, 333 Mont. 331, 142 P.3d 864 (“Exceptions to the mootness doctrine allow courts to rule on non-extant controversies to provide guidance concerning the legality of expected future conduct.”).

A. Under the “voluntary cessation” exception, defendants bear a heavy burden to show their eventual production of the Policy moots this case.

The district court should have reached the merits of this case pursuant to the voluntary cessation doctrine. *See Havre Daily News*, ¶¶ 33–34, 38. This mootness exception allows cases to proceed that “would otherwise have been rendered moot by a defendant’s voluntary cessation of the challenged action.” *Montanans Against Assisted Suicide v. Bd. of Med. Exam’rs*, 2015 MT 112, ¶ 15, 379 Mont. 11, 347 P.3d 1244 (citing *Havre Daily News*, ¶¶ 38–40). A defendant cannot moot a case by its voluntary conduct unless it is “**absolutely clear** that the allegedly wrongful behavior could not reasonably be expected to recur.” *Havre Daily News*, ¶ 38 (emphasis added) (quoting *Friends of the Earth, Inc. v. Laidlaw Env’l Serv’s*, 528

U.S. 167, 189 (2000)); *see also* *Trinity Lutheran Church v. Comer*, 137 S. Ct. 2012, 2019 n. 1 (2017) (voluntary cessation does not moot a controversy unless subsequent events make it “absolutely clear” the behavior could not reasonably be expected to recur); 1A C.J.S. Actions § 80.

This exception responds to the concern that defendants may “manipulate the litigation process” to evade judicial review. *Havre Daily News*, ¶ 34 (quoting *Laidlaw*, 528 U.S. at 189). Consequently, a defendant who voluntarily ceases its challenged conduct and then argues mootness must carry a “**heavy burden**” to persuade the court that the conduct “**cannot reasonably be expected to start up again.**” *Id.* (emphasis added).

For example, in right-to-know disputes where records custodians have refused to provide information only to immediately surrender it once suit is filed—in some ways an analogous problem—this Court held:

If...a plaintiff could show that the same agency has repeatedly withheld documents (or information contained within documents) from public disclosure and then fully disclosed those same documents upon the plaintiff’s filing suit to enforce its right to know, **the agency would shoulder a very hefty burden in attempting to persuade this Court that the “challenged conduct cannot reasonably be expected to [recur].”** ... Thus, it becomes **reasonable to expect that if a substantially similar situation occurs, the agency will repeat the obstructive tactics** that the plaintiff challenges, perpetrating a substantially similar, though not identical, wrong. In such cases, final judicial

adjudication may provide useful guidance that may obviate future violations of the right to know. Accordingly, a plaintiff may likely obtain adjudication of such past disputes under the “voluntary cessation” exception to mootness.

Havre Daily News, ¶ 39 (emphasis added).

B. Defendants did not carry their “heavy burden” to show their voluntary cessation mooted the case.

Defendants claim the issue is moot because, after suit was filed, they voluntarily ceased their conduct of withholding the Policy. This suggests “manipulation of the litigation process”—the concern that prompted this Court to impose a “heavy burden” to make it “absolutely clear” that the conduct will not recur. *Havre Daily News*, ¶ 34. This Court “appreciate[s] the importance of properly assigning this burden.” *Id.*

Nonetheless, the district court’s order did not mention the burden or discuss how defendants might have carried it. After recounting the briefing and discussing justiciability and mootness generally, the district court offered essentially two rationales, neither of which addressed the salient burden under the “voluntary cessation” exception, and referenced the defendants’ briefing.

1. *The district court's notion that Wilkie should have to file a different lawsuit.*

The district court reasoned:

If Plaintiff believes The Hartford's conduct rises to the level of bad faith, Plaintiff may pursue that action. This Court will not provide an advisory opinion as a steppingstone to that litigation.

App. 1, pp. 2-3. This is erroneous in several ways.

First, the same thing could be said about every *Ridley* declaratory judgment action. A prospective plaintiff aggrieved by an insurer's pre-litigation conduct could always just suffer the injustice and then seek compensation later in a bad-faith action. *Ridley* and its progeny, however, noted the devastation that could be visited upon injured third-party claimants if they were forced to wait and litigate for the damages to which they were entitled. *See, e.g., Ridley*, 286 Mont. at 335, 951 P.2d at 993 (even minor injuries can inflict expenses that are "devastating to a family of average income"); *DuBray v. Farmers Ins. Exch.*, 2001 MT 251, ¶ 15, 307 Mont. 134, 36 P.3d 897. This economic pressure can leave tort victims vulnerable to leveraging and encourage "ill-advised settlement." *Ridley*, 286 Mont. at 335, 951 P.2d at 993; *see also Watters*, ¶ 56 ("coerced economic necessity" might motivate an injured claimant to settle improvidently).

Wilkie's request is, at most, a slight extension of that same reasoning. If the

insurers must make coverage available up to policy limits to prevent devastating collateral harm, they should also disclose what those coverages and limits are. Just as economic pressure could lead to imbalanced bargaining and thus settlements that are unfair to the victims, so, too, can ignorance about the available coverages and limits. Insurance companies should no more be allowed to cheat injured victims by enforced ignorance than by economic pressure.

Second, that another action could be filed that might allow for more complete relief (payment for the bad-faith damages) is no reason to withhold declaratory relief.

Section 27-8-201, MCA, makes clear that that right to have statutes construed is **not dependent on whether further relief “is or could be claimed.”** In other words, it is not a basis for denying declaratory relief that all of the “rights, status, or other legal relations” of the parties cannot be decided in the same proceeding.

Ridley, 286 Mont. at 330-331, 951 P.2d at 990 (emphasis added). That Wilkie could sue for bad faith “is not a basis for denying declaratory relief.” *Id.* Otherwise, *Ridley* declaratory judgment actions could not exist.

The district court’s terse dismissal of Wilkie’s concerns, with instructions to sue for bad faith, defeats the whole purpose of affording *Ridley*-type benefits.

2. *The district court's discomfort about a (fictional) broad ruling.*

Wilkie's complaint specified that Sprout's liability to him was "reasonably clear," such that the Hartford was making *Ridley* payments of medical expenses. Dkt. 2, ¶ 7. It was in that context that Wilkie sought declaratory relief, just as *Ridley* and its progeny only apply when liability is reasonably clear.

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