04/05/2021

Bowen Greenwood CLERK OF THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF MONTANA

Case Number: DA 20-0514

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA

Supreme Court Cause No. DA 20-0514

PAUL WILKIE,

Plaintiff/Appellant,

VS.

HARTFORD UNDERWRITERS INSURANCE COMPANY a/k/a THE HARTFORD; RICHARD L. SPROUT; and SHAUNA SPROUT,

Defendants/Appellees,

DEFENDANT/APPELLEE HARTFORD UNDERWRITERS INSURANCE COMPANY'S RESPONSE BRIEF

On Appeal from the Montana Eighteenth Judicial District Court, Gallatin County, the Honorable Rienne H. McElyea Presiding

Ian McIntosh
Dale Schowengerdt
Kristen Meredith
Crowley Fleck PLLP
P.O. Box 10969
Bozeman, MT 59719-0969
Telephone: (406) 556-1430
Facsimile: (406) 556-1433

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Wilkie's declaratory judgment action became moot as soon as Wilkie received the Sprouts' insurance policy, which is what he sought in his declaratory judgment action. Mootness is a threshold issue that courts must address prior to reaching the merits of an action, and no exceptions to the mootness doctrine saved Wilkie's action from dismissal. The voluntary cessation exception does not apply where the plaintiff, like Wilkie, points to only a single instance of the challenged

conduct. Wilkie has not alleged that Hartford ever withheld any other information from him.

Nor does the capable of repetition yet evading review exception save

Wilkie's claims. That exception requires Wilkie to show that there is a reasonable

expectation that he will be subject to the same action against Hartford. Wilkie fails

to show that there is even a remote possibility that he will be subject to the same

challenged conduct by Hartford at any point in the future. The district court

properly dismissed the action on the grounds it could not provide Wilkie any further

effective relief.

Even if Wilkie's claims were not moot, they were subject to dismissal because they failed to state a cognizable claim for relief. Wilkie failed to identify any legal right or duty that Hartford infringed upon or breached. Instead, Wilkie asked the district court, and now asks this Court, to create a new and sweeping duty requiring insurers to disclose their insureds' policy information to third-party claimants even in the absence of ongoing litigation. Both Wilkie and the Amicus Montana Trial Lawyers Association contend that Wilkie seeks a limited disclosure duty, one that arises only where "liability is reasonably clear." Wilkie's Complaint and request for declaratory relief, however, contain no such limitation. Wilkie's Complaint sought a declaration that Hartford owed a duty to Wilkie, as a third-party claimant, to disclose its insured's policy and policy limits information to him.

Hartford's App. 1, Pl.'s Compl., ¶¶ 24-25. Neither Montana law nor the facts support the creation of such a new broad duty. Rather, Rule 26 of the Montana Rules of Civil Procedure establishes that insurance policy information must be produced <u>after</u> litigation is filed, meaning that there is <u>not</u> a duty to produce the insurance policy pre-litigation.

Wilkie's characterization of the facts overlooks another important detail:
Wilkie was not forced to bring the underlying action. Hartford questioned Wilkie's entitlement to policy information pre-suit, but asked Wilkie to provide it with information to support his request. Seeing an opportunity to create new law, Wilkie filed suit rather than responding to Hartford's request.

Wilkie fails to identify a legitimate need for the creation of such a broad new duty. Wilkie advances unwarranted concerns that Montana law does not sufficiently protect third-party claimants from unfair settlement practices, but disregards and misinterprets longstanding protections and remedies that Montana law affords third-party claimants.

Wilkie is not entitled to attorneys' fees. Wilkie's action is moot and the district court properly dismissed it. Even if it were not moot, Wilkie lacks any basis in law or the underlying facts to support the creation of this new duty, and Wilkie cannot be considered a prevailing party that would be entitled to recover its attorneys' fees. Wilkie's request for fees must be denied.

This Court should affirm the district court's dismissal, decline to expend limited resources on an issue that is moot and will not impact the parties, and deny Wilkie's request for attorneys' fees or any other relief.

ARGUMENT

- I. The district court properly dismissed Wilkie's action because it no longer presented a justiciable controversy.
 - A. Wilkie received the relief he sought in the underlying declaratory judgment action and his claims are moot.

The "judicial power of Montana's court's is limited to justiciable controversies," and courts are limited to adjudicating actual and ongoing controversies between parties. *Progressive Direct Ins. Co. v. Stuivenga*, 2012 MT 75, ¶ 16, 364 Mont. 390, 276 P.3d 867. Courts lack jurisdiction to decide issues that would not affect the parties to the particular action. *Id.*, ¶¶ 16-17. The "constitutional requirement of a 'case or controversy'" requires that an actual and ongoing controversy exist between the parties. *Greater Missoula Area Federation of Early Childhood Educators v. Child Start, Inc.*, 2009 MT 362, ¶ 23, 353 Mont. 201, 219 P.3d 881.

Courts lack jurisdiction to decide moot issues or to give advisory opinions where there is no actual "case or controversy." *Greater Missoula Area Federation of Early Childhood Educators*, ¶ 23. Mootness is a "threshold issue" that courts "must resolve before addressing the substantive merits of a dispute." *Havre Daily*

News, LLC v. City of Havre, 2006 MT 215, ¶ 31, 333 Mont. 331, 142 P.3d 864. Where the "issue presented at the outset of the action has ceased to exist or is no longer 'live,' or if the court is unable due to an intervening event or change in circumstances to grant effective relief . . . then the issue before the court is moot." *Greater Missoula Area Federation of Early Childhood Educators*, ¶ 23. The doctrine recognizes that "because the constitutional requirement of a 'case or controversy' contemplates real controversies and not abstract differences of opinion or moot questions," "courts lack jurisdiction to decide moot issues." *Id.*, ¶ 23 (citing Seubert v. Seubert, 2000 MT 241, ¶ 18, 301 Mont. 382, 13 P.3d 365; Wright et al., Federal Practice and Procedure vol. 13B, § 3533.1, 725-27). A question is moot "when the court cannot grant effective relief." Havre Daily News, LLC, ¶ 31 (quoting Shamrock Motors, inc. v. Ford Motor Co., 1999 MT 21, ¶ 19, 293 Mont. 188, 974 P.2d 1150).

Mootness is "the 'doctrine of standing in a set time frame: The requisite personal interest that <u>must exist at the commencement of the litigation (standing)</u> must continue throughout its existence (mootness)." *Havre Daily News, LLC*, ¶ 31 (quoting Henry Monaghan, *Constitutional Adjudication: The Who and When*, 82 Yale L.J. 1363, 1384 (1973) (emphasis added)). Where the court's resolution of the merits would result in an advisory opinion that only "advis[es] what the law would be upon a hypothetical state of facts or upon an abstract proposition," but

does not "resolv[e] an actual 'case or controversy," the court must dismiss the action. *Plan Helena, Inc. v. Helena Regional Airport Authority Bd.*, 2010 MT 26, ¶¶ 11-12, 355 Mont. 142, 226 P.3d 567.

Wilkie does not dispute that he received all the policy information that he sought in the declaratory judgment action, nor could he. *See* Appellant's Opening Br., 2. Wilkie brought the underlying action seeking a declaration that Hartford had a duty to provide Wilkie with a copy of the Sprouts' insurance policy and applicable declarations page, or in the alternative, a declaration that Hartford owed Wilkie a duty to disclose the amount of liability coverage available under the Sprout's policy. Hartford's App. 1, Pl.'s Compl., ¶¶ 24-25. A little over a month after filing suit, counsel for the Sprouts provided Wilkie with a copy of the policy and information that he sought. Appellee Sprouts' App. A, Letter from Patrick Sullivan to Robert Baldwin, April 23, 2020.

At that point, the issue Wilkie presented at the outset of the action ceased to exist, he no longer had a personal interest in the action, and the district court was therefore unable to provide Wilkie any effective relief. *Greater Missoula Area Federation of Early Childhood Educators*, ¶ 23; *Havre Daily News, LLC*, ¶ 31. Because the action no longer presented an ongoing and actual "case or controversy," the district court properly dismissed the action as moot. *Plan Helena, Inc.*, ¶ 11; Order at 2-3.

The district court properly declined to expend limited judicial resources on a moot issue where any ruling on the merits would only result in an advisory opinion. Order, 2-3. In the "era of crowded dockets" and limited judicial resources, taking up consideration of Wilkie's moot claims would not have had any impact on the rights and responsibilities of the parties, and would have "deprive[d] other litigants of an opportunity to use the courts as a serious dispute-settlement mechanism." *Richardson v. State*, 2006 MT 43, ¶ 57, 331 Mont. 231, 130 P.3d 634 (quoting *First Bank (N.A.)-Billings v. Heidema*, 219 Mont. 373, 376, 711 P.2d 1384, 1386 (1986)).

That is true today more than ever. In 2019, for example, 5,377 cases were either filed or reopened in Gallatin County District Court, with 2,234 of those being civil cases. *Montana District Courts, 2019 New Case Filings and Reopened Cases*, Montana Judicial Branch.¹ In 2020, that number grew to 5,661 total case filings, with 2,444 of those filings being civil filings. *Montana District Courts, 2020 New Case Filings and Reopened Cases*, Montana Judicial Branch.² In a 2021 District Court Workload Review of case filing statistics, workloads, and judicial resource needs, the Montana District Court Council determined the Eighteenth

¹ https://courts.mt.gov/portals/189/dcourt/stats/2019stat.pdf (last visited March 25, 2021).

² https://courts.mt.gov/portals/189/dcourt/stats/2020stat.pdf (last visited March 25, 2021).

Judicial District needed an additional 3.28 full-time equivalent judicial resources to meet workload demands. 2021 District Court Workload Review Judicial Resource Needs, Montana Judicial Branch.³

Any decision on the merits of Wilkie's claims would be purely advisory about what Montana law might require on a hypothetical set of facts. This Court should affirm the district court's dismissal of Wilkie's action.

B. No exceptions to the mootness doctrine apply to Wilkie's claims and Hartford met its burden to establish their inapplicability.

Wilkie misconstrues the exceptions to the mootness doctrine. He fails to make any showing of the necessary criterion to bring his action within the terms of either the "voluntary cessation" or "capable of repetition but evading review" exceptions.

1. The voluntary cessation exception is not applicable to Wilkie's action because he can point to no more than a single instance of the challenged conduct.

The voluntary cessation exception applies only where the challenged conduct is of "indefinite duration" but is "voluntarily terminated by the defendant prior to completion of appellate review." *Havre Daily News, LLC*, ¶ 34. Where, as here, the "plaintiff points to only a single instance" of the defendant withholding

13

³ https://courts.mt.gov/Portals/189/dcourt/stats/2021DC-needs.pdf (last visited March 25, 2021).

information and later disclosing it after suit has been filed, "the case generally will not fall within the 'voluntary cessation' exception to mootness." *Havre Daily News, LLC*, ¶ 38. A "hypothetical refusal to provide access" to information is insufficient to invoke the voluntary cessation doctrine because the possibility of a future controversy does not constitute a "recurrence of the same challenged conduct," which the party challenging mootness must show. *Havre Daily News, LLC*, ¶ 40. In other words, a plaintiff cannot avoid dismissal on mootness grounds by asserting a "conjectural and conclusory" possibility of the recurrence of a challenged practice. *Id.* ¶¶ 39-40.

To invoke the voluntary cessation exception, the plaintiff must show that the same party "has repeatedly withheld documents . . . and then fully disclosed those same documents upon the plaintiff's filing suit." *Havre Daily News, LLC*, ¶ 39. The exception does not apply if the plaintiff cannot point to any other instances in which the defendant has engaged in the challenged conduct. *Id.*, $\P\P$ 39-40.

Wilkie misinterprets *Havre Daily News*, which makes clear that Wilkie's action does not implicate the voluntary cessation exception. Under a complete reading of *Havre Daily News*, a plaintiff contesting mootness must point to more than a "single instance" of the challenged conduct to invoke the voluntary cessation exception. *Havre Daily News, LLC*, ¶ 34. Wilkie cannot make that showing. Although the Court recognized the "heavy burden" on the party asserting

mootness to persuade the court that the "challenged conduct cannot reasonably be expected to start again," the Court's opinion did not stop there. *Havre Daily News, LLC*, ¶ 34. Wilkie's incomplete reading of *Havre Daily News* overlooks that the Court held "when a plaintiff points to only a single instance of an agency's withholding a document and later disclosing the same after suit has been filed, the case will generally not fall within the 'voluntary cessation' exception to mootness." *Havre Daily News, LLC*, ¶¶ 34, 38.

Wilkie ignores the limitation imposed in *Havre Daily News*, which dooms his claim to the exception. Wilkie has pointed to only a single instance of Hartford engaging in the challenged conduct. As this Court held, the voluntary cessation exception does not apply because it is "not generally reasonable to expect the 'same wrong' to recur." *Havre Daily News, LLC*, ¶ 38. The exception is not applicable because a ruling on the merits would not be of "any discernible future benefit to the litigants or the interests of judicial economy." *Id.* Wilkie does not allege or put forth any evidence that Hartford has withheld information from Wilkie on any other occasion. Instead, Wilkie makes speculative claims that insurers in general have an ongoing practice of withholding policy information from third-party claimants pre-litigation. *See* Appellant's Opening Br., at 22-23. That is insufficient.

The declarations Wilkie submitted in support of his brief in opposition to Hartford's motion to dismiss should not be considered. The "focus of a Rule 12" (b)(1) motion to dismiss . . . is whether the court has the threshold authority to hear and adjudicate the type of claim at issue on the facts pled." Stowe, ¶ 12. The declarations fall outside the "facts pled" by Wilkie and should not inform the Court's decision. Wilkie's contention that because Hartford's motion to dismiss addresses the "disputed fact" that he received the policy information he sought, the Court may consider evidence outside the pleadings, is unavailing. Appellant's Opening Br., 20. It is undisputed that Wilkie received the policy information he sought. In their Answer to Wilkie's Complaint, the Sprouts affirmatively allege Wilkie received the insurance policy he sought. Hartford's App. 3, Sprouts' Ans. to Pl.'s Compl., p. 3. Wilkie has never disputed this, and in fact acknowledges he received the policy. Appellant's Opening Br., 1, 2, 6. The reference to Wilkie's receipt of the policy information does not amount to a "factual challenge" that opens the door to the submission of additional evidence or declarations. Appellant's Opening Br., 20.

The Court should also reject the declarations because they do not demonstrate, or even allege, that Hartford has engaged in the same challenged conduct on any other occasion, let alone on an ongoing or repeated basis, which is

a necessary element of the voluntary cessation exception. *Havre Daily News, LLC*, ¶ 38.

The voluntary cessation exception is likewise inapplicable because Wilkie premises its application on an inaccurate set of facts and a misinterpretation of Montana law. Wilkie's opening brief ignores a critical fact in the underlying action: Hartford expressly requested that Wilkie provide information in support of his request for the policy and policy information. Wilkie was not "forced" to file the underlying action. *See* Appellant's Opening Br., at 25-26, 27, 31. He ignored Hartford's request for further information and instead ran to court seeking to create new law.

Similarly, Wilkie bases his claim on the unsupported theory that Hartford wrongfully withheld policy information, or that the law required Hartford to disclose the policy information pre-litigation. As discussed more fully in Section II., Montana law does not impose this duty on insurers, or even suggest that such a duty exists. Wilkie fails to identify any basis in Montana law that supports this duty and he cannot put forth any reason that would suggest such a broad duty is necessary.

Wilkie makes the unsupported, and erroneous assertion, that Hartford ignored its burden and improperly shifted it to Wilkie. *See* Appellant's Opening Br., at 17-18. Wilkie's contention is factually inaccurate, mischaracterizes the

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